Received Washington State Segures Court

No. 92171-7

SEP 14 2015 E CPA Ronald R. Carpeoto Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TIMOTHY WHITE

Petitioner,

vs.

SKAGIT COUNT; ISLAND COUNTY,

Respondents.

REVISED PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH & LOWNEY, PLLC

By: Knoll D. Lowney WSBA No. 23457 Marc Zemel WSBA No. 44325

2317 East John Street Seattle WA 98112-5412

(206) 860-2883

Attorneys for Petitioner Timothy White

 $\int dx = -\frac{1}{2} \int dx = -\frac{1}$

I. INTRODUCTION

In a published opinion, Division One thwarted the public's ability to oversee Washington's elections, provoking the kind of mistrust in our election system that disenfranchises voters. Skagit, and Island Counties, like other counties in Washington, scan the ballots received from voters during elections to create digital image-files (electronic copies) and then use software to count those copies and tabulate election results. Those electronic copies are public records under RCW 42.56 et seq., which the people have a right to access under the Public Records Act ("PRA" or "Act"). In direct conflict with Supreme Court precedent, Division One ignored the expressed presumptions of access to public records, improperly implied exemptions, and validated the counties' decision to withhold the records without even examining them or using redaction to facilitate public access. Petitioner seeks only anonymous records that do not link any voter with his/her ballot, so the Court of Appeals' reliance on article VI section 6 of the Washington Constitution to protect voter secrecy was improper.

The published decision undermines the PRA, and is even more important because it imposes an unprecedented level of secrecy over our election process, where transparency is critical to ensuring the integrity of the election system and the public trust in election results. The Court should accept review of this important issue.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Washington resident Timothy White.

.

III. COURTS OF APPEAL'S PUBLISHED OPINION

By published opinion on July 13, 2015, Division One affirmed the trial court's denial of relief under the PRA. <u>White v. Skagit County and</u> <u>Island County</u>, Published Opinion, No. 72028-7-I (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 1, July 13, 2015) (hereafter "Div. 1 Opinion"). No trial occurred, and the appellate court relied only on documentary evidence and affidavits. This appeal also involves a parallel companion case in Division Two, related to denial of public access to the same class of election records from the same election, for which Petitioner is seeking review under a separate petition.¹

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Skagit, and Island Counties ("Counties") violate the PRA by refusing to produce electronic election records that would facilitate an analysis of election-system accuracy and security, where the Legislature had not exempted such records from the Act and where the Counties refused to even analyze the records or use redaction to facilitate public access?

2. Must the Counties produce the anonymous records because public access to election records furthers the public interest in a wellfunctioning democracy and would not irreparably damage any person's privacy or a vital government interest?

3. Did the Counties err in withholding the records purportedly

¹ See <u>White v. Clark County</u>, Published Opinion, Supreme Court No. 92172-5, Court of Appeals No. 46081-5-II (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 2, June 30, 2015) (also denying Petitioner's access to the public records).

to protect ballot secrecy, even though as Division Two found on the same facts, the Counties "provided no evidence that production of the ballot images White requested would compromise voter secrecy."

4. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the Counties complied with the procedural requirements to explain their claimed exemptions to the records under the Public Records Act?

5. Is Petitioner a prevailing party, entitling him to recovery of his reasonable attorney fees and costs, and should the Counties pay daily penalties for violating the Act?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is an election advocate seeking to ensure that the "winner" of each election actually received the majority of the cast votes and that the public trusts that this is so. In an earlier case, Petitioner succeeded in enhancing election integrity by proving that Washington counties had implemented uncertified software to track ballots, obtaining a state-wide injunction against continued use of that system. *See* White, Rosato, et al. v. <u>Henley</u>, San Juan County Super. Ct., Nos. 06-2-05166-2, 10-2-05002-8, Stip. Order Granting Permanent Injunction (Sept. 27, 2013) (J. Eaton).² This appeal continues Petitioner's efforts to enhance the public's trust.

One of the greatest sources of public mistrust in elections is the use of computerized software systems that automate vote-counting and determine election outcomes. This concern is reasonable considering that

 $^{^2}$ The Court may take judicial notice of this Superior Court case and injunction. A copy of this injunction is attached as Appendix B.

in the past year alone, hackers have stolen data from the federal government,³ the largest banks,⁴ commercial websites⁵ and others.⁶ Given the millions of dollars spent on campaigns, it is only natural to believe that, given the opportunity, software vulnerabilities in election systems will eventually be exploited. These reasonable fears alone "drive[] honest citizens out of the democratic process…Voters who fear their legitimate votes will be outweighed by fraudulent ones will feel disenfranchised." <u>Purcell v. Gonzalez</u>, 549 U.S. 1, 4, 127 S.Ct. 5 (2006).

The State of Washington recognizes a public interest in "preserving the integrity of the electoral process by combating fraud...and fostering government transparency and accountability." <u>Doe v. Reed</u>, 561 U.S. 186, 197, 130 S.Ct. 2811 (2010) (citing Washington's argument). A critical method to confirm the accuracy of the software tabulation system—and to ensure public trust in this system—is to allow the public, academics, and the press to compare the computer generated copies of the cast ballots with

⁵ Danny Yadron, *Hackers Post Stolen User Data From Ashley Madison Breach*, WALL ST. J., August 19, 2015, http://on.wsj.com/1JsiUTt.

³ Mark Mazzetti, et al., U.S. Fears Data Stolen by Chinese Hacker Could Identify Spies, N.Y. TIMES, July 24, 2015, at A1, available at http://nyti.ms/1LDN7Fu.

The Court may take judicial notice of all these widely-reported events, including those cited *infra*.

⁴ Matthew Goldstein, et al., *Neglected Server Provided Entry for JPMorgan Hackers*, N.Y. TIMES, December 23, 2014, at B1, available at http://nyti.ms/1CsjMcm.

⁶ Hannah Kuchler, *Cyber Insecurity, Hacking Back*, FIN. TIMES, July 27, 2015, http://on.ft.com/1Mwalxk.

the final election outcome. Computer experts, academics, and election advocates like Petitioner have participated in such efforts, even if few ordinary citizens ever would.⁷ The result of such work—like Petitioner's previous lawsuit—is to remove or fix faulty election hardware and software from the election system *before* it causes (intentionally or accidentally) the outcome of an election to diverge from the votes cast.

The decision under appeal eliminates public oversight of our elections through the PRA and thus undermine one of the best tools we have to prevent such election errors and/or fraud and to enhance public trust. The published decision prevents Petitioner, the press, or academics from obtaining the information necessary to ferret out problems with our election system. Without the ability to use the PRA to obtain copies of anonymous election records, the public is left in the dark. The fact that officials bought and implemented uncertified election software shows that sometimes blind trust is not enough. *See* White, Rosato, et al. v. Henley, *supra*. Without the vigilance of Petitioner and other election advocates, such illegal software would continue to be used in our election system today.

Here, Petitioner requested anonymous digital image-files of scanned

⁷ See e.g., Associated Press, Wichita State Mathematician Says Kansas Voting Machines Need Audit, WICHITA EAGLE, July 20, 2015, http://www.kansas.com/news/politics-government/article27951310.html.

paper ballots (indisputably public records under the PRA), and the Counties are compelled to provide copies. As Division Two found on identical facts, the Counties "provided no evidence that production of the ballot images White requested would compromise voter secrecy." <u>White v. Clark County</u>, Published Opinion at 7, Supreme Court No. 92172-5, Court of Appeals No. 46081-5-II (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 2, June 30, 2015).

In all of Washington, counties conduct their elections predominantly by mail. Div. 1 CP 182, 150. Voters typically receive blank paper ballots in the mail, record their preferences, and mail the marked ballot back to their Counties. *Id.* Once received, the Counties scan the paper ballots with an "off the shelf" commercial scanner, storing the electronic copies for later use with ballot verification and tabulation software.⁸ Div. 1 CP 150-51, 182. These digital files are the primary records Petitioner requested. Div. 1 CP 257-259.

The PRA request does not involve the cast paper ballots, which according to statute, must remain secured in case of a recount and are stored in a sealed ballot box after scanning. Div. 1 CP 64 at lines 5-7. Election officials need not handle the paper ballots to use the digital images to

⁸ Many other counties in Washington use the Hart Intercivic, Inc. system too.

examine questionable marks for voter-intent,⁹ to tabulate votes, or to canvass the election. *Id.* at lines 25-30.

At all times, the Counties maintain the ability to print copies of the ballot-image files, and can save them as PDFs or Microsoft Word documents without touching the paper ballots. Div. 1 CP 184. While the Counties try to obfuscate the issue, the requested documents are mere scans—like many of us deal with every day. Once scanned, the original can be filed or sealed, while the electronic copy is stored on a computer and can be viewed or reprinted. *Id*.

Petitioner issued identical requests to each of the Counties for copies of the county-created electronic files on November 6, 2013. Div. 1 CP 220-22. Neither of the Counties produced these public records. Div. 1 CP 230, 234-36. The Counties never even examined the requested records for exempt information.

On January 2, 2014, Petitioner commenced a PRA case to compel the Counties to provide copies of the records.¹⁰ Div. 1 CP 248-55. No discovery occurred, but Petitioner learned that the Counties withheld over

⁹ This is known as the "ballot resolve" process, which allows election officials and observers to view images of ballots that contain markings that the tabulation program cannot interpret, but from which a human viewing the image could understand the intent of the voter (i.e. a circle around a candidate's name instead of a filled-in box next to it, among other examples). *See* Div. 1 CP 150 at para. 6.

¹⁰ Petitioner brought the consolidated case against Skagit County and Island County in Snohomish County Superior Court.

125,000 digital image-files responsive to the request.¹¹ Div. 1 CP 166, 184. In doing so, the Counties cited no authority specifically exempting the records from public access and instead asked the court to imply a new exemption from the Constitution, the broad election regulations of Title 29A RCW, and administrative code, despite "no evidence that production of the ballot images White requested would compromise voter secrecy." White v. Clark County, Published Opinion at 7, 46081-5-II.

The Superior Court denied relief to Petitioner. Petitioner appealed the decision, and Division One accepted *amicus curiae* briefs from the Washington Coalition for Open Government (WCOG) and the Washington Secretary of State. Division One issued a published opinion affirming the trial court on July 13, 2015 and denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration on August 24, 2015.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the published opinion hampers public oversight of our elections and undermines voter confidence.

Supreme Court review of the published opinion is needed to enhance voter confidence in our election system and vindicate public oversight. Public release of anonymous election records provides a level of access to

¹¹ The scanning process produces two images for each paper ballot, one image for each side of the ballot. Div. 1 CP 184 at line 16. This figure includes records from both counties.

the election process consistent with state practices and legislative intent for transparency, while safeguarding the right to voter secrecy. In Washington, we recognize a public interest in "preserving electoral integrity" by "promoting transparency and accountability in the electoral process, which...is essential to the proper functioning of a democracy." <u>Doe v.</u> <u>Reed</u>, 561 U.S. at 198 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also*, <u>Purcell</u>, 549 U.S. at 4 ("Confidence in the integrity of our electoral process is essential to the functioning of our participatory democracy."). The published opinion ignores these express values to the detriment of our democracy.

When other states have analyzed these same issues, they have ruled in favor of transparency and permit public access to ballot-image files—and even to the ballots themselves. *See Marks v. Koch*, 284 P.3d 118 (Colo. App. 2011), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted*, No. 11SC816 (June 21, 2012); <u>Price v. Town of Fairlee</u>, 2011 VT 48, 190 Vt. 66, 26 A.3d 26 (2011). Given the widespread use of computer systems in Washington that foment suspicion, and the public policy of our state favoring transparency, Washington deserves the same level of public access enjoyed by other states. This Court should accept review to guide the courts on this matter of first impression in Washington.

1. Access to the requested election records is critical for public confidence in close elections and to fix problems.

As codified, it is the policy of the State of Washington that:

[P]ublic confidence in government at all levels is essential and must be promoted by all possible means...[including] *full access to public records so as to assure continuing public confidence of fairness of elections*...

RCW 42.17A.001(5) (emphasis added); *see also id.* at .001(11).¹² In the "electronic age," these policies require that the public be allowed to use the PRA to access anonymous election records stored electronically.

Washington has a unique experience with a historically close gubernatorial election in 2004 between Dino Rossi and Christine Gregoire. With a similarly slim margin, hacker-fraud or a minor computer glitch could decide an election. Close and contested elections happen, and it is critical that we ensure that electronic tabulation systems are working properly and that the public has confidence in their operation—*before* contested elections occur. There is evidence from other jurisdictions that electronic voting systems have vulnerabilities and can produce inaccurate results.¹³ Access

¹² This declaration of policy is rooted in Initiative Measure No. 276, approved November 7, 1972—the same measure through which the PRA was originally adopted.

¹³ See e.g. Edward Tenner, Op-Ed, *The Perils of High-Tech Voting*, N.Y. TIMES, February 5, 2001, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2001/02/05/opinion/the-perils-of-high-tech-voting.html ("Those in the business are all too familiar with the ways electronic systems can malfunction..."); David Dill, et al., *Electronic Voting Systems: A Report for the National Research Council* (Verified Voting Foundation), November 22, 2004, available at https://openvotingconsortium.org/files/project_evoting_vvf.pdf; Ford Fessenden, *Counting the Vote: The Machine*, N.T. TIMES, November 19, 2000, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2000/11/19/us/counting-the-vote-the-machine-new-focus-on-

to the anonymous records Petitioner seeks can help deter fraud, identify problems with the system, and correct them before it is too late. Unaddressed, the potential for these problems "drive[] honest citizens out of the democratic process and breeds distrust of our government." <u>Reed</u>, 561 U.S. at 197 (quoting <u>Purcell</u>, 549 U.S. at 4). This Court should weigh in on this important issue and reaffirm the PRA as a means to reassure the public and enhance our democracy.

2. Contrary to state policy, the published opinion effectively forfeits the public's oversight role as sovereign.

By denying the public its right to access the anonymous public records at issue, the Court of Appeals tells Washington voters they must trust the system without question. But the Public Record Act was born from an inherent distrust of being kept in the dark about important democratic issues, including the workings of elections. Under the PRA:

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. *The people insist* on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments they have created.

RCW 42.56.030 (emphasis added). The PRA is a safety valve because

punch-card-system.html; Adam Cohen, Op-ed, *Rolling Down the Highway, Looking Out for Flawed Elections*, N.Y. TIMES, August 8, 2004, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2004/08/08/opinion/editorial-observer-rolling-down-the-highway-looking-out-for-flawed-elections.html.

would-be voters place greater trust in elections that are transparent and subject to public oversight. The published opinion makes that impossible because the public has no access to the electronic files used to determine election outcomes. Such secrecy feeds public distrust and prevents academics, the press, and citizens from scrutinizing and ensuring the integrity of election systems. This is contrary to the public's intent in passing the PRA in 1972 by citizen initiative to preserve public control over election records.¹⁴

The PRA was designed to grow over time and has been routinely interpreted to cover electronic records. *See e.g.* <u>Nissen v. Pierce County</u>, _ Wn.2d _, No. 90875-3 (filed Aug. 27, 2015); <u>Fisher Broadcasting-Seattle</u> <u>TV LLC v. City of Seattle</u>, 180 Wn.2d 515, 326 P.3d 688 (2014). The PRA's intention to preserve public access to election documents must be respected even as the nature of those documents change.

3. The published opinion improperly recognizes WACs as PRA exemptions, encouraging agencies to shield their own documents from public access.

With no statutory PRA exemptions on point, the published decision implies an exemption from the Washington Administrative Code (WAC),

¹⁴ See David Cuillier, et al., *The History and Intent of Initiative 276*, (Edward R. Murrow School of Communication, Washington State University, August 24, 2004), available at http://www.washingtoncog.org/pdfs/I276 document - David Cuillier.pdf.

protect voter secrecy through redaction. Under precedent, Petitioner has the right to receive copies of anonymous, redacted records.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should accept review of the published opinion denying Petitioner relief under the Public Records Act. Petitioner respectfully asks the Court to reverse the Court of Appeals, order production of anonymous and/or redacted records, award Petitioner his reasonable fees and costs for all stages of this litigation, and impose a daily penalty on the Counties for their PRA violations.