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

(4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

RAP 13.4(b). 

A. There is no conflict between the two divisions of the court of 
appeals and neither decision conflicts with supreme court 
precedent. 

It is not surprising that both divisions of the Court of Appeals 

reached the same conclusion: the body of law directing the security and 

handling of ballots, including facsimiles and electronic images of ballots 

as defined under RCW 29 A.04.008( 1 ), effects the purpose of a 
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constitutional mandate for ballot secrecy and precludes disclosure of 

ballots under the PRA. 1 

The decisions are not in material conflict with each other. They do 

not change the status quo: ballots have never been subject to disclosure 

unless ordered by a court in an election dispute under RCW 

29A.60.ll0(4). Nor do the principles relied upon by the courts of appeals 

conflict with any supreme court precedent. 

The PRA must be interpreted to avoid the absurd results. See 

Resident Action Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth., 177 Wn.2d 417,431, 327 

P.3d 600 (2013) citing Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d 439,448, 

90 P.3d 26 (2004). It must also "give way to constitutional mandates," 

Freedom Foundation v. Gregoire, 178 Wn.2d at 695, which our courts 

recognize as a force behind the argument that constitutional provisions can 

serve as PRA exemptions. Herald-Republic, 170 Wn.2d 775, 808, 246 

1White cites to a San Juan Superior Court case in an attempt to create a 
suspicion of county error in the processing of ballots. PFR at 3, 5. 
However, this court "cannot, while deciding one case, take judicial notice 
of records of other independent and separate judicial proceedings[.]" 
Spokane Research v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 98, 117 P.3d 1117 
(2005) citing In reAdoption of B.T., 150 Wn.2d 409, 415, 78 P.3d 634 
(2003); RAP 9.11. The San Juan decision and any argument based on it 
should be disregarded. But even if this Court were inclined to consider it, 
the San Juan County case did not involve the security or disclosure of 
voted ballots. White's complaint was that a specific system, which 
allowed election officials and voters to track whether their ballots had 
been received and counted, had to be certified. The system did not affect 
the tabulation of ballots, nor was the system's efficacy challenged. 
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P.3d 768 (2011). Because the constitutional mandate extends to the 

canvassing process, State ex rel. Doyle v. Superior Court, 138 Wash. 488, 

492, 244 P. 702 (1926), interpreting the PRA to require disclosure of 

voted ballots would present an absurd result. See City of Seattle v. Grundy, 

86 Wn.2d 49, 50, 541 P.2d 994 ( 1975) (A statute that conflicts with a 

prohibition contained in the constitution is void.) 

The constitutional conflict is avoided by following precedent that 

allows an "other statute" to exempt records from disclosure. RCW 

42.56.070( 1). An "other statute" does not need to use the words 

"confidential" or "exempt." See Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d 

at 453 (holding that RCW 5.60.060(2)(a), protecting attorney client 

communication, is an "other statute" under the PRA.) Nor does an "other 

statute" need to expressly mention the PRA or expressly make particular 

records confidential. It is sufficient that disclosure conflicts with the 

legislative purpose of the "other statute." See PAWS//, 125 Wn.2d at•262 

("Given the potential for unfunded biomedical grant proposals to 

eventuate in trade secrets as broadly defined by the statute, this 'other 

statute' operates as an independent limit on disclosure of portions of the 

records at issue here that have even potential economic value.") (Italics in 

original.) In PAWS /1, the court found support for this conclusion in a 

body of statutes, including RCW 19.108.010(4), defining a trade secret; 
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RCW 19.108.020(3), allowing protection of trade secrets by court order; 

RCW 19.108.050 (giving courts broad authority to preserve the secrecy of 

trade secrets); Laws of 1994, ch. 42, § l, p. 130 (a legislative declaration 

of public policy for confidentiality and prevention of unnecessary 

disclosure); and RCW 4.24.580 (anti-harassment law geared to protect 

researchers). None of these statutes mentions the PRA. 

Thus, Division One was correct to conclude that the Washington 

Constitution and the comprehensive statutory scheme requiring ballot 

security from cradle to grave constitute an "other statute" exemption under 

the PRA. 

Division Two's decision does not fail or present a conflict simply 

because it considered a regulation under the umbrella of Article VI, 

section 6 and a comprehensive statutory scheme requiring ballot security. 

Our state constitution mandates that the legislature protect the secrecy of 

the vote. See State ex rei. Empire Voting Mach. Co. v. Carroll, 78 Wash. 

83, 85, 138 P. 306 (1914) (To "guard against intimidation and secure 

freedom in the exercise of the elective franchise" Article VI, section 6 of 

the Washington Constitution admonishes the legislature to "secure to 

every elector absolute secrecy in preparing and depositing his ballot.") 

Following this mandate, the legislature directed the Secretary of State to 

adopt standards and procedures to "ensure the secrecy of a voter's ballots" 
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and to "guarantee the secrecy of ballots" to fulfill the constitutional 

mandate. See RCW 29A.04.611 ( 11) and (34 ). The enacted regulations 

simply supplement the constitutional and statutory provisions creating a 

comprehensive scheme that constitutes an "other statute exemption."2 See 

Weyerhaeuser Co. v. State, 86 Wn.2d 310,317,545 P.2d 5 (1976) 

("regulations so adopted [at the express direction of the legislature] are 

'entitled to considerable weight in determining legislative intent,' unless 

compelling reasons are presented sufficient to show the scheme is in 

conflict with the intent and purpose of the legislation.") citing Earley v. 

State, 48 Wn.2d 667, 673,296 P.2d 530 (1956). 

As the Snohomish court analyzed, "RCW 29A.60.120 and RCW 

29A.60.125 contain a description of the only time when RCW Chapter 

29A allows a ballot to be duplicated." CP 25. This and other restrictions 

bar disclosure of the digital images that White requested by not allowing 

their duplication. See Div. I Op. at 4 ("all ballots-including originals and 

duplicates-are maintained in a secure area from the moment they are 

deposited or received until they are eventually destroyed.") 

Division One's opinion that the counties' explanations were 

sufficient to give White notice of the reasons for non-disclosure does not 

2 The regulations are not overbroad. They are limited to voted ballots and 
do not, for example, exempt the Secretary of State's records from 
disclosure because state officials cannot take possession of voted ballots. 
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present a conflict either. White cannot deny that the reasons for denying 

one ballot apply to all of the ballots. Thus, it was just as reasonable for 

Island County to group the non-disclosed ballots under a three-page 

explanation, CP 234-36, as it was for Skagit County to give a one page 

explanation and briefly repeat the explanation throughout a 2,111 page 

exemption log. CP 230. 232. In compliance with Sanders v. State, 169 

Wn.2d 827, 839-40, 240 P.3d 120 (2010), which disallowed "the mere 

identification of a document and the claimed exemption," neither county 

simply quoted the PRA exemption. Both counties clearly explained that 

the cited laws and regulations controlling the security of ballots barred 

disclosure. This "enabled White and ultimately the trial court to assess 

whether or not images of voted ballots are subject to the same provisions 

for secure storage as the originals." Div. I Op. at 13. 

Further, White's argument that the voted ballots could have been 

redacted to remove stray marks does not establish a conflict or error. The 

Snohomish court summarized in detail why "[t]he constitutional mandate 

of absolute secrecy could not be adequately accomplished" by redaction. 

CP 29-30. Possession of voted ballots would allow anyone to isolate all of 

the ballots from a small precinct that may have distinctive candidates and 

issues. This condensed pool of potential voters could be compared with 

the county auditor's public report of who voted and when the ballot was 
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received. See RCW 29A.60.235. Metadata, which White sought for the 

ballot images, would further indicate when each ballot was scanned. 

Ballots could then be further segregated by machine vote, e-mail ballots, 

and ballots including write-in votes, possibly in distinctive handwriting. 

As the state's Director of Elections declared, 

This is illustrated by Washington State's least 
populated county. Garfield County has 1,567 
registered voters. In a low 20% turnout election, 
only 313 votes would be cast in the entire 
county. Release of subtotaled votes cast by 
precinct, city and district boundaries could 
jeopardize the voter's identity. 

See CP 93. Requiring disclosure of ballots, even if redacted to remove 

stray marks, would defeat the constitutional mandate and legislature's 

intent to secure absolute voter secrecy. Disclosure of all of the voted 

ballots in an election is categorically different from the fleeting glance that 

an observer might get at a ballot when watching the tabulation or 

canvassing process. Thus, the court of appeals correctly rejected White's 

argument that redaction could secure the mandated secrecy. Div. I Op. at 7 

("as the Elections Director explains, where there is low turnout in a small 

precinct, even a ballot devoid of identifying marks can be tied back to a 

voter by comparing it with voters credited with returning ballots on 

particular dates.") 



B. White's issues do not present a significant question of 
constitutional law. 

For the first time in the course of this litigation, White asserts that 

he is "seeking to ensure that the 'winner' of each election actually 

received the majority of the cast votes[.]" White's PFR at 3. Thus, he 

seeks to use the PRAto bypass the plain language in RCW 29A.60.1l0, 

which requires a court order founded on reasonable proof of a valid 

election dispute to disclose voted ballots. 

Clearly, White cannot invade the sanctity of the ballot box when he 

does not even have a suspicion of a dispute. One hundred years of judicial 

precedent demands proof "that the election officials have failed to perform 

their duty" before the court will allow ballots to be disclosed. See Quigley 

v. Phelps, 74 Wash. 73, 77, 132 P. 738 (1913). Just as "[t]he argument that 

a contestant, though strongly suspecting malconduct, would have no 

means of proving it outside of the ballots themselves [did] not impress" 

the Quigley court, White's unfounded request for personal oversight of the 

election process should not impress this court. See Quigley v. Phelps, 74 

Wash. at 85. Also see State ex rel. Doyle v. Superior Court, 138 Wash. at 

492 (The sanctity of the ballot box "is not to be invaded simply because a 

vote is close, and it is hoped that a re-check of the work performed by the 

precinct officers may possibly show a change or an error.") 
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Because White has no evidence of a valid election dispute, he fails 

to identify a significant question of constitutional law that this court needs 

to resolve. 

C. White's petition does not raise substantial public interest. 

White crafted his evidence and arguments before the trial and 

appellate courts to avoid any allegation of fraud or misfeasance that would 

have triggered the necessity of a court order, under RCW 29A.60.110, to 

obtain copies of voted ballots. However, White now raises the specter of 

fraud to support his claim of a substantial public interest. 

No evidence in the record supports White's current insinuations of 

fraud or misfeasance. 3 The articles and argument on election fraud, 

hacking and mistrust, PFR at 3-4, 5; vulnerabilities and inaccurate results 

in Kansas elections, PFR at 10-11; and the history of Initiative 276, which 

does not mention election records, PFR at 13; were not presented to the 

trial court or to the court of appeals. Thus, the court should not consider 

3 Compliance with these statutory duties is a matter of professionalism, but 
the legislature also imposed significant criminal penalties and forfeiture of 
the election official's office for noncompliance. RCW 29A.84.7203

; RCW 
29A.84.030 (willfully violating any provision regarding the conduct of 
mail ballot primaries or elections is a C felony); RCW 29A.85.545. 
(removing a paper record produced by a direct recording electronic voting 
device is a C felony); RCW 29A.84.540 (gross misdemeanor to unlawfully 
remove a ballot from a voting center or ballot drop location); RCW 
29A.84.680(2) ("Except as provided in this chapter [29A.84 RCW], a 
person who willfully violates any other provision of chapter 29A.40 RCW 
is guilty of a misdemeanor.") 
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these documents or the arguments they support.4 See State v. Hughes, 106 

Wn.2d 176,206,720 P.2d 838 (1986) (The composition of the record on 

appeal is limited by RAP 9.1 (a) to a report of the trial court proceedings, 

the papers filed with the Superior Court Clerk, and any exhibits admitted 

in the trial court proceedings); State v. Stevenson, 16 Wn. App. 341,345, 

555 P.2d 1004 (1976), review denied, 88 Wn.2d 1008 (1977) (Matters 

referred to in a brief but not included in the record cannot be considered 

on appeal.) 

The remainder of White's public interest argument baldly ignores 

the legislature's balancing of ballot security with public oversight and the 

counties' unchallenged compliance with that balance, including the use of 

voting systems approved by the Secretary of State to meet all the 

requirements of Title 29A RCW, RCW 29A.12.010, RCW 29A.l2.020; 

precise direction on the counting and rejection of votes, RCW 29A.60.040, 

RCW 29A.l2.050; and requirements for post-election audit of results, 

RCW 29A.60.185; systems maintenance, RCW 29A.60.090; and the 

inspection and handling of ballots, RCW 29A.60.11 0, .120, .125, .160. 

4 When a party refers to matters in a brief that are not included in the 
record, the error should be brought to the appellate court's attention in a 
responsive pleading. Engstrom v. Goodman, 166 Wn. App. 905, 909 n. 2, 
271 P.3d 959, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1004 (2012) 
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Additionally, no evidence demonstrates that the counties failed to 

keep the counting centers open to the public and observers from political 

parties, RCW 29A.60.170( 1 ), (2); to allow political party observers to 

agree to a random check of ballot counting equipment, RCW 

29A.60.170(3), and to observe the post-election audit; or meet the 

eighteen elements for a publicly available reconciliation report. RCW 

29A.60.135. 

Contrary to White's insinuation, no admissible evidence shows 

that the counties' tabulation computers can be "hacked." There is no 

evidence that any county used uncertified software to tabulate ballots, an 

issue that White raises for the first time on appeal, or that the computer 

systems and programs fail to meet the statutory and regulatory 

requirements for security of the vote. See RCW 29A.l2.080 (requiring that 

the voting device secure voter secrecy), WAC 434-335-040(3).5 Meeting 

5 WAC 434-335-040 provides in part: 
(3) A vote tabulating system must: 
(a) Be capable of being secured with lock and seal when not in use; 
(b) Be secured physically and electronically against unauthorized 
access; 
(c) Not be connected to, or operated on, any electronic network 
including, but not limited to, internal office networks, the internet, or 
the world wide web. A network may be used as an internal, integral 
part of the vote tabulating system but that network must not be 
connected to any other network, the internet, or the world wide web; 
and 
(d) Not use wireless communications in any way. 
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these requirements, the Ballot Now and Tally computers are standalone set 

ups that are not connected to any network and a data card is used to 

transfer data between the two computers. CP 184. 

White's new argument that the election laws merely delay access 

to ballots is another issue that was not raised before the superior court. 

Although Division Two declined to consider whether ballots could be 

released after the statutory retention period, Division I held that "[i]n Title 

29A RCW, the legislature has gone into great detail to ensure that the 

process of collecting, counting, storing, and ultimately destroying 

ballots achieves the constitutional mandate for a secret ballot," Div. I Op. 

at 6 (emphasis added). 

"Immediately after their tabulation, all counted ballots" must be 

placed in sealed containers, RCW 29A.60.110 (emphasis added), until 

destroyed according to retention scheduled validly enacted under RCW 

40.14.050. Logically, this applies to the ballot images used to tabulate 

votes and serves the public interest by assuring that there will be no 

retaliation because of a person's vote. See 26 Am. Jur. 2d Elections § 307 

(20 12) (entitled "Necessity for Secrecy") (A secret written ballot is used 

"to prevent recrimination against people who vote for losing candidates.") 
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The public interest in the accurate counting of votes is already 

served by the opportunities for observation of election center activities in 

including the required random check of ballot counting equipment, RCW 

29A.60.170(3); the post-election audit, RCW 29A.60.185, and the option 

of obtaining a court order for disclosure or correction of error, wrongful 

act, or neglect. RCW 29A.60.110, RCW 29A.68.011. White's neglect of 

these options defeats his public interest argument. 

CONCLUSION 

The laws and regulations adopted by the Washington legislature 

under the direction of the constitutional mandate at Article VI, section 6 of 

the Washington Constitution effectively satisfy the public's overriding 

interest in ballot secrecy while providing the opportunity for interested 

persons to observe election staff as they process and tabulate ballots. 

Lacking concrete evidence of fraud or misfeasance, which may have 

allowed White to obtain a court order to disclose the voted ballots, White 

fails to demonstrate a matter of public interest that would allow further 

review of the appellate decisions. The two appellate decisions do not 

conflict with each other or with any decision of this court and the appellate 

courts correctly found that White's request for disclosure of voted ballots 

had to be denied. 
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For the reasons set forth above, the Court should deny petitioners' 

petition for review. 

2015.